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DIRECTOR’S FOREWORD

he first guide to The Cloisters was published in May 1938, the

same month the newly constructed Museum opened to the
public as a branch of the Metropolitan. That essential volume, sub-
sequently reprinted and revised numerous times, was followed in
1951 and 1963 by enlarged versions that accommodated important
new gifts and acquisitions, including the Hours of Jeanne d’Evreux
and Robert Campin’s Mérode Triptych. In his preface to the book’s
third edition, then Metropolitan director James J. Rorimer prom-
ised that “these additions have required yet another revised and
enlarged. .. guide in order to give a comprehensive description of
the collections.” In the more than forty years since that book was
prepared, The Cloisters has continued to grow, broadening and
deepening its world-renowned holdings in the art and architecture
of the Middle Ages. Once again we find that our many notable
acquisitions and renovations have made necessary a new guide to
its incomparable treasures. ‘

The Cloisters: Medieval Art and Architecture builds on the legacy of
those early guide books as it also incorporates important elements,
such as historic photographs, published in other major books on
the collection. These include Rorimer’s excellent but long unavail-
able Medieval Monuments at The Cloisters (1941, rev. 1971), still an
outstanding and eminently literate source on objects in the collec-
tion that “incorporate or support or enclose, as distinct from ele-
ments that can be readily moved.” There is also Bonnie Young’s A
Walk Through the Cloisters (1979), a perennial favorite featuring a
lively prose style and gorgeous photographs by Malcolm Varon that
together lead the visitor on a visual tour of the building and the
masterpieces of art within. '

In a departure from those models, this guide is organized as a
chronological survey of the collection. It begins, for example, with
an important group of ivory carvings that visitors typically encounter
in the Treasury, at the end of their visit, even though such ivories
are among the earliest pieces at The Cloisters. By presenting these
art works in roughly the same historical sequence in which they



were originally created, not only do we glimpse the evolving styles
and traditions of the Middle Ages, we gain a better understanding
of the historical and political contexts in which many of the objects
appeared. An even more practical consideration behind this decision
~ is that The Cloisters, never intended to be a static display of medieval
art, continues to change. Except for a handful of immovable archi-
tectural pieces that are woven into the very fabric of the building,
the works in the collection are subject to reinstallation and, occa-
sionally, reconsideration as a result of ongoing scholarly research.
To date generations of scholars and curators have contributed to
our knowledge of The Cloisters’ collection, and this latest anthology
benefits from their cumulative efforts. Each selected work is accom-
panied by the kind of detailed descriptive data now standard in art
publishing, and most are illustrated with new digital color photog-
raphy. The Cloisters: Medieval Art and Architecture is thus a thoroughly
updated, contemporary guide befitting the Metropolitan’s commit-
ment to upholding the latest museological standards, yet it also
reflects our respect as an institution for careful scholarship and the
often painstaking pursuit of historical accuracy. On behalf of the
Museum, I would like to thank the guide’s co-authors—Peter Barnet,
Michel David-Weill Curator in Charge, Medieval Art and The Cloisters,
and Nancy Wu, Associate Museum Educator, The Cloisters—for
their tenacity and vision in bringing this complex project to fruition.
The Metropolitan acknowledges The Peter Jay Sharp Foundation,
whose endowment for publications made possible this important
guide. The Sharp Foundation’s dedication to the Metropolitan’s
permanent collection speaks to the very heart of the Museum’s
mission, and we remain grateful for their enlightened support.

Philippe de Montebello
Director
The Metropolitan Museum of Art
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INTRODUCTION

he Cloisters, a branch of The Metropolitan Museum of Art,

houses an extraordinary collection of art and architecture from
medieval Europe, particularly from the Romanesque and Gothic
periods. Students and enthusiasts of the Middle Ages have long made
pilgrimages to The Cloisters to appreciate the collection’s remark-
able richness and broad scope. Many visitors also come to enjoy the
Museum’s magnificent setting, overlooking the Hudson River, and
to experience its unique design concept, which incorporates subtle
transitions between indoor and outdoor, past and present.

The history of The Cloisters begins with George Grey Barnard
(1863-1938), an American sculptor trained at the Art Institute of
Chicago and at the Académie des Beaux-Arts in Paris. From 1905
to 1913 Barnard was living with his family in a small village near
Fontainebleau, where he was at work on a commission for the
facade of the Pennsylvania state capitol building, in Harrisburg. To
supplement his income, he became a casual art dealer and, later, an
adroit collector, amassing in just a few years an impressive ensemble
of medieval objects. Among his acquisitions were portions of four
cloisters from southern France—Saint-Michel-de-Cuxa, Saint-
Guilhem-le-Désert, Bonnefont-en-Comminges, and Trie-en-Bigorre—
that would eventually form the architectural core of The Cloisters.

Barnard’s interest in acquiring medieval sculpture stemmed
from his frustrated attempts to introduce his students at New
York’s Art Students League, where he had taught in the late 189o0s,
to the beauty of medieval stone carving. He resolved to found a
medieval museum “where the ‘spirit of Gothic’ could once more
cast its spell.” Barnard’s timing was propitious, for at the turn of
the twentieth century medieval architectural fragments were still
available to the interested collector. Many such objects had become
separated from their original settings as a result of pillage or van-
dalism, first during the sixteenth-century Wars of Religion and later
in the French Revolution. Less violent causes, such as extensive ren-
ovations undertaken by owners—often a reflection of changing
tastes—also contributed to the dispersal or destruction of art works.

{9
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Exterior view of
Barnard’s Cloisters,
showing an early
installation of
architectural ele-
ments from Saint-
Michel-de-Cuxa,
1926

By the time Barnard began dealing in and collecting antiques, most
of the fragments he was acquiring had already been displaced from
their original sites. Some he found in private residences, but others
had been hidden from view or even abandoned in fields.

In 1913 Barnard entered into negotiations with Mme Baladud de
Saint-Jean for at least ten arches from Saint-Michel-de-Cuxa then
decorating her bathhouse in Prades. The proposed sale alarmed
local residents, however, as it did officials in Paris, who were already
vexed by Barnard’s earlier acquisitions. As a result, in late December
of that year, shortly before the French senate passed a law designed
to impede the export of historical monuments, Barnard shipped
his entire collection to New York. He built a home for his antiquities
at 698 Fort Washington Avenue and West 1goth Street in Upper
Manhattan. His new Cloisters Museum (opposite), essentially a
barnlike brick structure with a pitched roof, opened in December
1914 “for the benefit of the widows and orphans of French sculp-
tors.” Four years later, at the end of World War I, Barnard’s energies
were diverted to yet another ambitious plan: to build a national
peace memorial showcasing the achievements of world architec-
ture. Although never realized, the project consumed so much of
Barnard’s capital he was forced to put his museum up for sale. In
1925 John D. Rockefeller Jr. (1874-1960) purchased the Barnard
collection for The Metropolitan Museum of Art, and on May 3 of
the following year Barnard’s Cloisters reopened as a branch of the
Metropolitan (below).

Over the next few years Rockefeller helped enlarge The Cloisters’
holdings through gifts and initiated plans to better accommodate




Estate of C. K. G. Billings, future site of Fort
Tryon Park and The Cloisters, before 1926
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Baron I. J. Taylor (1789-1879).
Ruines de Saint-Michel-de-Cuxa, 1834.
Lithograph, from Voyages pittoresques
et romantiques dans I'ancienne
France (Paris, 1820-78)

the ever-growing collection. He purchased a tract
of land just north of Fort Washington Avenue,
part of which had previously been occupied by the
estate of C. K. G. Billings (opposite), and in 1927
he contracted Olmsted Brothers (the firm of Cen-
tral Park architect Frederick Law Olmsted’s sons)
to landscape the area. They created what is now
Fort Tryon Park (part of the New York City Parks
and Recreation system), which Rockefeller
donated to the city in 1930 with the condition that
four acres be set aside for the future Cloisters
Museumn. Rockefeller also presented some seven
hundred acres of the Palisades, the imposing
bluffs on the west side of the Hudson River oppo-
site the Museum, to the State of New Jersey,
thereby preserving the remarkably pristine vista
still treasured by visitors to The Cloisters. On a
clear day the spectacular view stretches south to the
George Washington Bridge and as far north as the
Tappan Zee Bridge.

In 1931 the design for a new building was
entrusted to architect Charles Collens (1873-1956),
who had recently completed the Riverside Church
on the Upper West Side of Manhattan. By a fortu-
nate coincidence, at the same time the new Cloisters was under
construction (1935-38), New York City was extending its subway
system to 19oth Street, allowing excavated Manhattan schist to be
used for the Museum’s rampart walls. Similarly, the Belgian cobble-
stones paving the exterior grounds and driveways had been retired
from the Wall Street area. Granite quarried near New London, Con-
necticut, was selected for the exterior facing, and Doria limestone
from Genoa, Italy, was used on the interior.

Rockefeller had initially envisioned the new Cloisters as a castle-
like structure modeled loosely on Kenilworth, in England, but he
quickly realized that the predominantly religious content of the col-
lection called for a style more evocative of medieval ecclesiastical
architecture. To that end, Collens, working with Metropolitan cura-
tors Joseph Breck (1885-1933) and James ]. Rorimer (1905-1966),
surveyed numerous monuments in southern France for inspira-
tion. The five-story tower, for example, is reminiscent of those in
the region around Cuxa (above), while the entirely modern Gothic
Chapel bears a resemblance to thirteenth-century chapels at Carcas-
sonne and Monsempron. The dimensions of some individual stone
blocks and the designs for roof and floor tiles were likewise pat-
terned after ones from Europe. In fact, many European medieval
monuments influenced aspects of The Cloisters’ design, but none

|13






Columns and
capitals from
Saint-Guilhem-
le-Désert awaiting
reinstallation in
the new Cloisters,

1936

The Cloisters
viewed from the
south, ca. 1938

served as an exact model for any part of the Museum. In the final
plan, Collens incorporated all four of Barnard’s original cloisters as
well as several other major architectural elements from medieval
France, including an arcade from Froville (in Lorraine), a chapter
house from the Cistercian abbey in Pontaut, and a Romanesque
chapel from Langon.

Within the galleries of the new Cloisters the atmosphere was
intended to be intimate, with minimal ornamentation, limited
artificial lighting, and even an occasional burning candle. Some of
the galleries reflected the original functions of the architectural
fragments they incorporated, whereas others provided a neutral and
sympathetic setting for the works on display. When the Museum
opened in May 1938, Lewis Mumford, writing in the New Yorker,
praised The Cloisters as “one of the most thoughtfully studied and
ably executed monuments we have seen in a long time.” Louvre
curator Germain Bazin hailed it as “the crowning achievement of
American museology.”

Three of the newly reconstructed cloisters (Cuxa, Bonnefont,
and Trie) incorporated gardens, an idea explored first by Joseph
Breck in 1926 when he fashioned a garden court at Barnard’s old
museum with fragments from Cuxa. Curators James Rorimer and,

|15
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View of Cuxa
Cloister garden
from the tower

Opposite:
Bonnefont
Cloister garden

later, Margaret Freeman (1899-1980) pursued Breck’s vision of re-
creating historical gardens. Rorimer personally surveyed catalogues
of terracotta pots, and Freeman collected plant specimens from
Cuxa in France. Their efforts to make The Cloisters’ gardens aes-
thetically pleasing as well as educational were immediately seized
upon by horticultural enthusiasts, and in 1939 the gardens were
included on a list published by the Herb Society of America of
“Botanic Gardens and Herbaria devoted especially to medicinal
plants and other herbs for flavor, fragrance or household use.”
Today the gardens at The Cloisters are overseen by staff horticultur-
ists who, like curators, are continually researching the species that
grow there and adding new ones to the mix.

The Cuxa Cloister garden (above), with its central fountain, was
conceived as a typical monastic enclosed garden. Footpaths inter-
secting in a cross shape divide it into equal quadrants, each planted
with a fruit tree in the center and flowering plants along the border.
The Bonnefont Cloister garden (opposite), overlooking an expansive
view of the Hudson River and Fort Tryon Park, was designed with
herbs and other useful plants in mind. The space is organized sym-
metrically, with four quince trees situated around a fifteenth-century
Venetian wellhead, and plantings that are divided into small,






Apse from the
church of San

Martin at Fuen-

tidueria before
relocation to
The Cloisters,
ca. 19508
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geometrically shaped beds. The Trie Cloister garden offers yet
another, less formal design approach. A tall fountain stands at the
center of a rectangular plot amid some eighty species of plants, a
profusion evocative of the millefleurs (literally “a thousand
flowers”) backgrounds of late medieval tapestries.

John D. Rockefeller Jr. remained intimately involved with the
new Cloisters, proposing ideas to the curators and the architect and
donating more objects from his personal collection, including, in
1937, six of the seven famed Unicorn Tapestries. His generosity cul-
minated in 1952 with a significant endowment that assured the
continued growth of the collection for years to come. In 1948 the
original Hall of the Unicorn Tapestries was reconfigured into two
smaller galleries to accommodate the newly acquired Nine Heroes
Tapestries, a rare surviving set from the Late Gothic period. The 1950s
saw the acquisition of the Mérode Triptych and the arrival of the
apse from the church of San Martin at Fuentiduefia, on permanent
loan from the Spanish government (above). The installation of the
apse required that the original Special Exhibition Room be recon-
figured as a churchlike gallery space, which opened to the public in



1961. The superb acoustics of the Fuentiduefia Chapel, as it is known
today, quickly became apparent, and for more than forty years it
has proved a popular venue for concerts of early music. The renova-
tion and expansion of the Treasury, which contains such splendid
liturgical and devotional objects as the twelfth-century ivory “Clois-
ters Cross” and the fourteenth-century Hours of Jeanne d’Evreux,
was completed in 1988 to mark the Museum’s fiftieth anniversary.
Today The Cloisters continues to enhance its holdings and
improve its facilities. The gallery housing the Unicorn Tapestries
was refurbished in the late 1990s, including new lighting installed
above the long-shut (now reopened) wood louvered ceiling panels.
The flat glass-tile roof and opaque plexiglass that had covered Saint-
Guilhem Cloister since 1938 were similarly replaced in 2002 with
a pyramidal skylight and a ceiling of transparent panels that allow
natural light to filter softly into the interior. While these and other
renovations help the Museum meet the latest in museological stan-
dards, they also occasionally reveal lost original design details, such
as a small window hidden for decades behind a tapestry in the Bop-
pard Room and now open once again onto a view of Cuxa Cloister.
As we adapt twenty-first-century technology to The Cloisters’
unique setting, we do so in part to better accommodate the visiting
public. At the same time, mindful of the contemplative atmosphere
originally envisioned for the Museum, we seek a balance between
accessibility and tranquillity. The number of didactic panels and wall
texts, for example, has historically been kept to a minimum. Now,
though, visitors can rely on random-access digital audioguides for
information on highlights and major themes of the collection with-
out intruding on the serene ambience in the galleries. Maintaining
a respectful setting, especially given the spiritual resonance of much
of the collection, remains a paramount concern at The Cloisters
as we pursue our core missions: to preserve and protect the monu-
ments of medieval art in our care; to elucidate those works through
creative educational programming; to provide vigilant stewardship
of The Cloisters’ landmark physical facilities; and to continue col-
lecting masterworks of medieval art at the highest levels of quality.

l19



THE CLOISTERS

UPPER LEVEL

SAINT-
GUILHEM
CLOISTER ®

4

LANGON

FUENTIDUENA
CHAPEL CHAPEL
PONTAUT MUSEUM
CHAPTER SHOP
HOUSE

EARLY
GOTHIC

HALL ~

l
UPPER
DRIVEWAY

FROVILLE
ARCADE

CAMPIN ROOM

NINE HEROES
TAPESTRIES ROOM

BOPPARD ROOM
UNICORN

TAPESTRIES ROOM

KEY

. Architectural element
or monument discussed
in this guide, with
historic structure
indicated in red

n n Restrooms



LOWER LEVEL

STAIRSTO
UPPER LEVEL

&

GOTHIC
CHAPEL

GLASS GALLERY TREASURY

LOWER
DRIVEWAY

STAIRSTO
UPPER LEVEL

MANUSCRIPT
ROOM

TRIE CLOISTER



22

NOTE TO THE READER

All works of art are in the permanent collection of
The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York.

In object headings, information on country or culture of
origin is generally listed in the following order: Country,
Region (Province or Département), Town or City. Place-
names within Catalunya (Catalonia) are given in Catalan;
Castilian spellings are used for all other locations in Spain.
Dimensions are in inches followed by centimeters. Unless
otherwise noted, height precedes width precedes depth.

Biblical citations are from the Douay-Rheims Version.
Because most of the events and persons from the Hebrew
Bible that appear in the works of art are used in a Christian
typological context, the traditional term Old Testament has
been retained.
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1 | Plaque with Saint John

the Evangelist

Germany, North Rhine-Westphalia,
Aachen, early gth century
Elephant ivory

7% x 3% in. (18.4 x 9.5 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1977
(1977.421)
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Although the core of The Cloisters’ collection is devoted to Roman-
esque and Gothic art, the Museum houses several important early
medieval treasury objects, such as this exquisite ivory plaque from
the time of Charlemagne (r. as emperor 800—814), the so-called
Carolingian period. On the plaque, which was probably carved in
Aachen, Charlemagne’s capital, we see a youthful Saint john the
Evangelist sitting in richly carved classical garb. He is flanked by
elaborate columns that support an arch framing his symbol, the
eagle, and holds an open book bearing the words from the beginning



2 | Plaque with Scenes

at Emmaus

France, Lorraine (Moselle), Metz,
ca. 850-9oo

Elephant ivory

4Y2x 9% in. (115 x 23.5 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1970
(1970324.1)

of his Gospel: 1N PRINCI/P10 ERAT/VERBVM (In the beginning
was the Word). A second inscription, taken from a poem by the
fifth-century Roman poet Sedulius, is found on the upper border:
MORE VOLANS AQVILE VERBVM PETIT ASTRA [I0HAN]N1[s] (Flying
like an eagle the word of John aspires to Heaven). Although the
original function of the plaque is not known, most surviving ivories
from the Carolingian period once decorated covers of ecclesiastical
volumes. The imagery and inscriptions on this example suggest that
the plaque likely adorned the cover of a Gospel book.

Carved during or soon after the reign of Charlemagne’s grand-
son Charles the Bald (r. 840—77), this plaque reflects a later phase
of Carolingian art. The figures, represented in lively poses, gesture
broadly to convey the narrative. At left is Christ, identified by the halo,
appearing after the Resurrection to two of his disciples on the road
to Emmaus (Luke 24:13—32). At right we see the Supper at Emmaus,
when Christ reveals his identity to the two disciples, set within a
detailed representation of the town, including an elaborate gate

and city walls. The horizontal format of the plaque suggests that it
originally formed the front or back of a box whose other panels were
decorated with additional scenes from the life of Christ (probably
following the Resurrection). The elegant outer border was no doubt
inlaid with a contrasting material. The plaque belongs to a stylistically
related group of ivories from the second half of the ninth century
traditionally associated with the city of Metz, where Charles the Bald
had his court.

=

e -—v—-~~- .?——. —— e

"ll\y‘j \,:4& ,,1‘;7 4

|25



3 | Bursa Reliquary

North Italy, 1oth century

From the treasury of the

Benedictine abbey of Saint Peter

at Salzburg, Austria

Bone, paint, copper gilt, and sycamore
7% x 7% % 3% in. (19.7 x 18.6 x 8.3 cm)
The Cloisters Collection, 1953
(53.19.2)

The crisply carved, flat decoration of this reliquary recalls the style
and ornamental vocabulary seen frequently in large-scale stone
carving throughout northern Italy. Its shape is also reminiscent of a
bursa, a purse made of precious textiles in which saints’ relics were
carried. The openwork patterns of the bone plaques were originally
silhouetted against gilded copper foil, creating a delicate interplay
of light and shadow. In his twelfth-century treatise On Divers Arts,
the German monk Theophilus recommended a similar decorative
approach to the ivory carver: “Delicately draw little flowers or ani-
mals, or birds, or dragons linked by their necks and tails, pierce the
grounds with fine tools and carve with the best and finest work-
manship that you can. After doing this, fill the hole inside with a
piece of oak covered with gilded copper sheet so that the gold can
be seen through all the [pierced] grounds.”

26 |



4 | Three Holy Women at

the Holy Sepulcher

North Italy (Milan?), early 1oth
century

Elephant ivory

7%2% 4% in. (19.1 x 10.8 cm)
Purchase, The Cloisters Collection
and Lila Acheson Wallace Gift, 1993
(1993.19)
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Like the ivory plaque with Saint John the Evangelist carved about
one hundred years earlier (no. 1), this plaque was probably made to
decorate a book cover. At the center of the dramatic scene is the
Holy Sepulcher, with the burial shroud of Jesus visible through the
open door of the circular building. The soldiers—who the Bible says
were “struck with terror, and became as dead men” (Matthew 28:4)—
are seen behind the tomb, as the Holy Women approach with their
ointment jars. The latter are greeted by the winged angel, sitting
atop the lid of the sarcophagus, who informs them that Christ has
risen from his grave. The figures, particularly in the upper portion
of the ivory, are boldly carved and deeply undercut. The strong,
symmetrical composition and the masterful carving make this ivory
a powerful piece of relief sculpture.
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5 | Plaque with

Saint Aemilian

Master Engelram and his son Redolfo
Spain, Castilla-Leén, 1060-80

From the monastery church of San
Millén de la Cogolla, near Logroiio
Elephant ivory, with glass inlay

6%x 3 in. (16.8 x 7.6 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1987
(1987.89)
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The relics of the sixth-century Spanish saint Aemilian were housed
in an ornate shrine crafted of ivory, gold, and gems. We are remark-
ably well informed about the reliquary, which was made on the
occasion of the translation (or transport) of the saint’s relics from
the monastery of Suso to the church of San Millan de la Cogolla,
dedicated in 1067. Although the reliquary was damaged during

the Napoleonic invasion of Spain in 1809, we know from a 1601
description that The Cloisters’ plaque decorated the roof of the
shrine. On it we see the saint tending his sheep in the bottom

28|



6 | Cloister from
Saint-Michel-de-Cuxa

France, Roussillon (Pyrénées-
Orientales), ca. 1130-40

From the Benedictine monastery of
Saint-Michel-de-Cuxa (San Miguel
de Cuixa), near Perpignan

Marble

90 x 78 ft. (27.4 x 23.8 m)

The Cloisters Collection, 1925
(25.120.398, .399, -452, 547589,
.591-.607, .609-.638, .640-.666,
-835-.837, .872¢, d, .948, .953, .954)

Detail of capitals

register, while above he receives a blessing from the hand of God
at the top of a mountain.

In addition to this plaque, several other ivories from the shrine
survive in European and American collections. One, in the State
Hermitage Museum, Saint Petersburg, depicts the ivory carver
and his assistant in the workshop and bears an inscription that
identifies them as Master Engelram and his son Redolfo. Such images
of artists were rare in this period, as was the practice of identifying
artists by name.

The cloister is the nucleus of monastic daily life. Often square or rec-
tangular in shape, it is essentially an open-air courtyard bordered by
covered walkways connecting it to the other important spaces of the
monastery, such as the church, chapter house, dormitory, and refec-
tory. Most of the fragments with which this cloister is reconstructed
come from the Benedictine abbey of Saint-Michel-de-Cuxa, in the
eastern Pyrenees (the central fountain is believed to be from the
abbey of Saint-Genis-des-Fontaines). Saint-Michel-de-Cuxa was
founded in the ninth century by monks from the nearby abbey of
Saint-André-d’Exalada. The original cloister, probably constructed
during the abbacy of Gregory (1130-46), was almost twice the size
of the present reconstruction. Many of the capitals bear wild or
fanciful creatures, from crouching apes supported by naked men to
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Columns and capitals

from Saint-Michel-de-

Cuxa installed in a
garden in Aniane,
France, before 1906

monstrous heads devouring claw-footed arms. In his Apologia to
Abbot William (1125), the prominent theologian and reformer
Bernard of Clairvaux noted the popularity of such hybrid and out-
landish beings and criticized them as distractions from monastic
contemplation.

Saint-Michel-de-Cuxa was confiscated in 1789 by the French state
and sold in 1797; its sculpture began to be dispersed soon afterward
(below). For the reconstruction at The Cloisters, Languedoc marble
was quarried from the same mountainous region between Ria and
Villefranche where the twelfth-century masons at Cuxa would have
obtained their material. The layout of the garden approximates a
typical monastic garth, like that depicted on the ninth-century plan
for the Benedictine monastery in Saint-Gall, Switzerland. A crab
apple tree stands in the center of each quadrant of grass, bordered
by flowers and herbs. This ornamental garden mixes plants known
in the Middle Ages, such as lady’s-mantle and columbine—which
can also be found on the Unicorn Tapestries (nos. 117-123)—with
modern varieties to assure a continuous and bountiful display of
blooms from April through October.
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7 | Narbonne Arch

France, Languedoc-Roussillon (Aude),
mid- or third quarter of 12th century
Said to come from a building

in Narbonne

Marble

38 x 74 x 11% in. (96.5 x 188 x 28.6 cm)
John Stewart Kennedy Fund, 1922
(22.58.1a)

This semicircular arch comprises seven stone blocks {(known as
voussoirs) decorated with eight real and fantastic animals: left to
right, a manticore (“man-eater” in Persian, with the face of a man,
the body of a lion, and the tail of a scorpion); a pelican (symbol of
Christ); a basilisk (dragon with a serpent’s tail, signifying the power
to kill); a harpy (half-woman, half-bird creature whose sweet song
lures men to their deaths); a griffin (with the body of a lion and the
head and wings of an eagle); an amphisbaena (serpent with a head
at either end); a centaur (with the head and torso of a man and
lower body of a horse); and a crowned lion. These are all animals
familiar from medieval bestiaries: texts compiled in the twelfth
century describing such creatures and explaining their moral and
religious associations.

The closest parallel to the carving style of the arch can be found
in the nave capitals of the mid-twelfth-century church of Saint-Paul-
Serge in Narbonne, but the original location of the arch remains
unknown.
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8 | Angel from Saint-Lazare

at Autun

France, Burgundy (Sadne-et-Loire),
ca. 1130

From the former north transept
portal of the cathedral of Saint-Lazare
at Autun

Limestone

23 x 16%21n. (58.4 x 41.9 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1947
(47.101.16)

Seemingly afloat in midair, this angel was once a voussoir on the north
transept portal of the cathedral of Saint-Lazare in Autun, Burgundy.
His elongated body is accentuated with fine drapery folds, the sleeves
and hem of his garment are decorated with beaded borders, and the
feathers of his wings are articulated with deep lines. The fragmen-
tary state of the voussoir no longer allows for a sure identification of
the object held by the angel, in all probability a liturgical or musical
instrument. The angel is one of a handful of physical remains of the
twelfth-century portal, which was replaced with a Baroque doorway
in 1776. The fine, calligraphic carving style bears a strong resem-
blance to the celebrated Eve figure from the lintel of the same por-
tal, now at the Musée Rolin in Autun.
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9 | Enthroned Virgin
and Child

France, Burgundy (Sadne-et-Loire),
vicinity of Autun, 1130-40

Birch, paint, and glass

H. 40%2in. (102.9 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1947
(47.101.15)
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Despite the loss of the Christ Child’s head, three legs of the Virgin’s
throne, and most of the original painted decoration, this sensitive
carving manifests enormous sculptural power. The conception of
the Virgin's elongated face and the treatment of the drapery folds
compare closely to the well-known architectural sculptures of the
cathedral of Saint-Lazare in Autun, including the relief of an angel
in The Cloisters’ collection (no. 8). Indeed, one of the sculpture’s
owners, Abbot Victor Terret of Autun, believed it came from a local
church, perhaps Saint-Lazare. Surviving traces of paint reveal that
the Virgin’s tunic was forest green with vermilion cuffs, and her veil




10 | Enthroned Virgin
and Child

France, Auvergne (Puy-de-Déme),

1150-1200

Said to come from the chapel of
Saint-Victor at Montvianeix,

near Vichy

Walnut with gesso, paint, tin leaf,
and traces of linen

H. 27 in. (68.6 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1967

(67.153)

was a dark lapis lazuli blue. The Child’s tunic retains traces of
yellow, and his undergarment was red; the book he holds shows
evidence of blue on the front cover and white and black on the sides.
The Virgin's hair was black, and both eyes were originally inlaid
with pupils of blue glass (only the proper right eye is original).

The Christ Child seated in a frontal pose on the Virgin's lap is a
sculptural type known as the Throne of Wisdom, or Sedes Sapientiae
{see also The Cloisters’ Burgundian version, opposite). This seemingly
straightforward arrangement actually conveys complex theological
ideas, specifically the medieval tenet that Christ, like his ancestors
King David and King Solomon, embodied wisdom and justice.
Mary thus serves as his “throne,” and Christ holds an open book
emblematic of his divine wisdom. Sculptures like this one
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11 | Apse from San Martin

at Fuentiduefia

Spain, Castilla-Le6n (Segovia),

ca. I175-1200

From the church of San Martin at
Fuentiduefia, near Segovia

Sandstone and limestone

H. to top of barrel vault: 29 ft. 8% in.
(905.5 cm); max. interior W.: 22 ft. V2 in.
(672 cm)

Exchange Loan from the Government
of Spain, 1958 (L.58.86)

Church of San
Martin at Fuen-
tiduefia, 1955
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frequently functioned as reliquaries; in fact, X-radiography has
revealed the presence of a small sealed cavity under Mary’s left
shoulder that appears to contain a relic.

Recent treatment and study in the Museum’s conservation labo-
ratory have enabled us to reconstruct the original painted decoration
of the sculpture. The Virgin's mantle was once dark blue (lapis
lazuli darkened by a gray underlayer) and was further embellished
with small lozenge-shaped elements of tin leaf that were intended
to appear as gold. Beneath her blue mantle the Virgin wore a red
robe. That same red, also decorated with tin leaf, is found on the
Child’s himation (the overgarment that falls over his shoulder),
while his tunic (now light green) was originally a darker green with
red lining. Both throne and base were painted in imitation of colored
marbles and precious stones.

The church of San Martin stood in the village of Fuentiduefia in
north-central Spain, a region largely uninhabited, though claimed
intermittently by Christian and Muslim forces, from the eighth
through the eleventh century. Little is known about the building’s
history. By the nineteenth century, the apse—a term that most often
describes a semicircular space terminating at the east end of a
church, where the altar is situated—was the only part of the church
surviving in fair condition (above). In 1957 the Spanish government
agreed to lend it permanently to The Cloisters. The apse is covered
by a barrel vault and a half-dome, with three small windows piercing
the exterior wall. Flanking the window zone are two columns fronted
with figures: on the left, Saint Martin, bishop of Tours (ca. 316-397),
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Fuentiduefia apse
being prepared for
shipment to New
York, 1958

and on the right, the Annunciate Angel and Mary. Below a triumphal
arch are two attached columns whose capitals depict the Adoration
of the Magi (left) and Daniel in the Lions’ Den (right). To accom-
modate the reconstructed apse, which comprises 3,300 stone blocks
(above), the former Special Exhibition Room was partially demolished.
The new gallery, which opened to the public in 1961, was designed
to simulate a single-aisle nave with no projecting transepts, a plan
characteristic of twelfth-century Segovian architecture.



12 | Crucifix

Spain, Castilla-Leén (Palencia),

ca. 1150-1200

From the convent of Santa Clara at
Astudillo, near Palencia

White oak, paint, gilding, and applied
stones (corpus); red pine and paint
(cross)

1022 x 81% x 15% in.

(260.4 x 207.6 x 40 cm)

Samuel D. Lee Fund, 1935 (35.36a, b)

This monumental crucifix represents Christ in a characteristically
twelfth-century manner: triumphant over death, with his eyes open,
and crowned. The patterns of his beard and rib cage are boldly
carved, as is the drapery of the loincloth, and much of the painted
and gilded decoration is original. The reverse is embellished with a
painted image of the Lamb of God (Agnus Dei) at the center and
symbols of the Four Evangelists at the terminals, suggesting that
the cross was intended to hang away from the wall and be seen
from both sides. The high quality of the carving and the generally
fine state of preservation make this crucifix one of the most
important Romanesque examples of its type.
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13 | The Virgin and Child in
Majesty and the Adoration

of the Magi

Attributed to the Master of Pedret
Catalunya, Lleida, ca. 1100

From the church of Sant Joan

at Tredds

Fresco transferred to canvas

10 ft. 7in. x 19 ft. 5% in. (323 x 593 cm)
The Cloisters Collection, 1950
(50.180a—)
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This fresco, attributed on stylistic grounds to the so-called Master of
Pedret, comes from the apse of the church of Sant Joan at Tredés, in
the Catalonian Pyrenees. At its center are the Enthroned Virgin and
Child framed by a mandorla (an almond-shaped aureole). Flanking
this central group, but on a smaller scale, are Archangels Michael
(left) and Gabriel (right) in rigidly frontal poses. Only the Three
Magi at the bottom—Melchior, Balthasar, and Gaspar—display any
considerable agility or movement. The composition clearly intends
to delineate the hierarchy of the figures. An Italo-Byzantine influence
is evident in the representation of the bejeweled throne and the
flaming wings of the archangels; the latter, in fact, are dressed in
imperial Byzantine costumes.

The fresco was hidden from view until shelling during the Spanish
Civil War (1936-39) destroyed a Baroque altar in front of it. The
central group of the Virgin and Child was purchased by the Museum
in 1950, followed soon after by the other two fragments (Michael and
Melchior on one; Gabriel, Balthasar, and Gaspar on the other). When
the Fuentiduefia apse (no. 11) came to The Cloisters, the fresco frag-
ments were mounted on its half-dome to evoke their original setting.



14 | The Adoration of

the Magi

Spain, Castilla-Leén (Burgos),

ca. 1175-1200

From the church of Nuestra Sefiora
de la Llana at Cerezo de Riotirén,
near Burgos

Limestone

H. left to right: 48% in. (123.8 cm);
52%in. (134 cm); 53% in. (136.5 cm);
51in. (129.5 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1930
(30.77.6-.9)

Adoration group as installed on the
south facade of Nuestra Sefiora de la
Llana, ca. 1920s

Despite some visible damage, the masterful carving in this Adoration
scene is still apparent in the swirling drapery folds and majestic
postures of the figures. We see two of the Magi approaching the
Virgin and Child (whose head is missing) from the left, while Joseph
sits on the right with his head resting on his hand. The church of
Nuestra Sefiora de la Llana at Cerezo de Riotirdn, in ruins since 1924,
no longer provides evidence either for the group’s twelfth-century
disposition or for the original placement or presence of the third wise
man, but it is possible the group was intended for a tympanum.
However, the earliest photograph of it, taken in the 1920s (left), already
shows the ensemble
inserted in a recessed
space not likely to have
been its original setting.
Comparisons with
surviving regional
sculptures have
identified the hand of
the sculptor, who,
although anonymous,
created this Adoration
group in his mature

style.




15 | Commentary on the

Apocalypse of Saint john
Spain, Castilla-Leén (Burgos), ca. 1180
Probably from the Benedictine
monastery at San Pedro de Cardefia
Tempera, gold, and ink on parchment
172 x 11% in. (44.4 x 30 cm)
Purchase, The Cloisters Collection,
Rogers and Harris Brisbane Dick
Funds, and Joseph Pulitzer Bequest,
1991 (1991.232.1-.14)

In about 776 the Spanish monk Beatus of Liébana compiled a com-
mentary on the biblical Revelation of Saint John, commonly known
as the Apocalypse. Boldly illuminated manuscripts of Beatus’s text
are among the masterworks of early medieval Spanish art. This
miniature, one of fourteen leaves from such a manuscript in the
Museum’s collection, depicts the imagery in Revelation 6:9-11, or the
opening of the fifth seal. The horizontal bands of intense color behind
the images are characteristic of Beatus manuscripts. In the blue reg-
ister at top we see an altar table with hanging votive offerings and doves,
representing the souls of the dead, on either side; in the middle reg-
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ister an image of the blessing
Christ is flanked by trees; a
crowd of martyrs fills the
bottom register. The drapery
of the figural decoration,
which seems to cling to the
bodies in the “damp-fold”
style, is consistent with
Spanish work of the period,
as seen on the twelfth-century
carved figures of the Adoration
of the Magi group from Cerezo
de Riotirén (no. 14), also in
The Cloisters’ collection.



16 | Doorway from San

Leonardo al Frigido

Workshop of Master Biduino

Italy, Tuscany, ca. 1170-80

From the church of San Leonardo al
Frigido, near Massa-Carrara
Carrara marble

13 ft. 2 in. x 76 in. (400 x 190 cm)
The Cloisters Collection, 1962
(62.189)

Elements of the San Leonardo doorway
abandoned near Nice, ca. 1962
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The church of San Leonardo al Frigido is situated near the juncture
of roads leading to two great pilgrimage destinations of the Middle
Ages: Rome, and Santiago de Compostela, in northwestern Spain.
In 1879 this doorway was still standing at the entrance to the ruined
church, but by 1893 it was in Countess Benkendorff-Schouvaloff’s
villa near Nice. In 1962 it was found in pieces in a field near that
city (left) and was purchased by the Museum.

The stone carvings decorating the doorway are from different
periods and by different sculptors. The two doorposts are recarved
from an antique sarcophagus (excluding the capitals and bases), with
scenes of the Annunciation and Visitation on the left, and, on the
right, a depiction of Leonard, patron saint of prisoners, holding a
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17 | Game Piece with
Hercules Slaying the
Three-Headed Geryon

Germany, Lower Rhineland, Cologne,

ca. 1150
Walrus ivory

Diam. 2% in. (7 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1970
(1970.324.4)

44|

miniature figure with chained feet. The bases are postmedieval.

On the lintel, which some have attributed to the workshop of the
Pisan Master Biduino, is the Entry into Jerusalem (Matthew 21:1-9):
Christ, riding a donkey, is greeted by four children in a tree, while
two others lay garments on the road before him. The apostles, some
holding objects and some singing, walk with a tonsured Leonard in
a liturgical procession. That Leonard, a locally revered saint, is
included in the procession seems to invite viewers to imagine them-
selves walking alongside Christ on a spiritual pilgrimage to Jerusalem.

This carved disk was originally part of a set of thirty pieces made for
the board game known as “tables,” a precursor of backgammon.
Classical and biblical themes are seen frequently on surviving table-
men, including episodes from the stories of Hercules and Samson,
suggesting that these ancient heroes often represented opposing
sides in the game. Here, Hercules, at left, is shown killing the
three-headed monster Geryon—his tenth Labor. The monster, now
slain, is represented again at the bottom of the scene. Like many
other examples this tableman retains traces of paint. Color allowed
one side to be easily distinguished from the other side, which was
often left unpainted.



18 | Plaque with the
Pentecost

South Lowlands, valley of the Meuse,

ca. 1150-6o

Copper gilt and champlevé enamel
48 % 48 1n. (10.3 x 10.3 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1965
(65.105)

The dignified figure of Saint Peter, flanked by other apostles, sits
at the center of this exceptionally fine, well-preserved plaque. The
hand of God appears above him radiating red and white lines.
The scene represented here is the Pentecost, when, fifty days after
Easter, the apostles were gathered and “... suddenly there came a
sound from heaven, as of a mighty wind coming, and it filled the
whole house where they were sitting. And there appeared to them
parted tongues as it were of fire, and it sat upon every one of them”
(Acts 2:2-3).

The plaque is one of a group of twelve enamels, all measuring
close to ten centimeters square, divided between the Metropolitan

and several European museums. The group depicts scenes from the
Old and New Testaments and must have originally decorated a large
object in a church, such as an altarpiece or a pulpit. Together they
demonstrate the high quality achieved by Mosan enamelers as well
as the complexity of the monuments they created. As seen here, the
faces of the apostles are fluidly engraved in a style that recalls draw-
ing in pen and ink, while the drapery and architectural elements are
marvelously rendered in a rich palette of more than twelve colors.
The translucency of some of the enamel allows for the reflective
play of light off metallic foil beneath.
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19 | Pair of Doors with

Ironwork

France or Spain, Pyrenees,
12th century

Oak and iron

9 ft. 6in. x 39%2in. x 2 in.
(289.6 x 100.3 x 5.1 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1925
(25.120.291, .292)
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When closed and bolted, these massive doors provided considerable
defense against weapons such as battering rams and other war
machines. Their vertically arranged oak planks are reinforced with
spiked iron bands on the exterior and crossbeams on the interior.
Except for the fifteenth-century lock, the doors and ironwork are
believed to have come from a twelfth-century building in the Pyrenees.
The twenty-four iron bands affixed horizontally to the doors are
pierced with geometric patterns such as diamonds, dots, and r es.
The terminals of the bands are decorated with fanciful motifs resem-
bling animal heads, treetops, or wheels. The wheel-shaped terminal
directly above the lock contains an image of the crucified Christ.




20 | Chapel from Notre-

Dame-du-Bourg at Langon
France, Aquitaine (Gironde),
after 1126

From the church of Notre-Dame-du-

Bourg at Langon, near Bordeaux
Limestone

22 ft. 4%2in. x 16 ft. 5%z in.

(682 x 502 cm) overall

Rogers Fund, 1934 (34.115.1-.269)

Parts of this chapel-like gallery were constructed with twelfth-

century limestone blocks from the church of Notre-Dame-du-Bourg
at Langon, southeast of Bordeaux. According to one seventeenth-
century document, the small parish church—which had a single-aisle
nave, slightly projecting transepts, and a semicircular apse—was
founded in 1126 as a dependency of the nearby abbey of Notre-Dame-
de-la-Grande-Sauve (see no. 28). Seven capitals from the crossing and
choir of Langon are installed in this gallery, all of them decorated with
human heads or figures carved almost in the round. The crowned
female bust on one of the capitals has often been identified as Queen
Eleanor of Aquitaine (1122?-1204), one of the most remarkable
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Sacks of tobacco hanging in the upper
level of the former chapel, 1934
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women of the Middle Ages. However, other than a trip she took to the
region with her husband, King Henry II of England (r. 1154-89), in
the 1150s—when they might have spent one night at the nearby
Notre-Dame-de-la-Grande-Sauve—there is no documentary evidence
that Eleanor ever visited Langon or that the bust was intended to por-
tray her. The blind arches lining the walls (below, left) and the pre-
dominantly geometric patterns decorating the abaci, arches, and cor-
nices (below, right) are all characteristic of late-twelfth-century archi-
tecture in western France.

Like many religious monuments in France, Notre-Dame-du-Bourg
suffered repeated damage, especially from the Hundred Years’ War
and the French Revolution. By the early nineteenth century the
choir had been divided into two levels: the lower served as a stable,
while the upper became a dance hall, then a theater. When the
Museum purchased the chapel fragments in 1934, the upper level
was being used to store tobacco (above). The reconstructed chapel is
about three-quarters of its original size.

Left: Detail of blind arches, with the so-called busts of Eleanor
and Henry 11 visible on the capital at far left

Below: Detail of capital and abacus




21 | Chapter House from

Notre-Dame-de-Pontaut
France, Aquitaine (Landes),

12th century

From the Cistercian abbey of Notre-
Dame at Pontaut, south of Bordeaux
Limestone, brick, and plaster

37 ft. g in. x 25 ft. 4 in. (1.5 x 7.7 m)
The Cloisters Collection, 1935 (35.50)

Notre-Dame-de-Pontaut, south of Bordeaux, was founded in 1115 as
a Benedictine abbey but became a Cistercian house in 1151. As in most
medieval monasteries, much of the abbey’s liturgical and adminis-
trative business was conducted in the chapter house, where monks
attending daily meetings would have sat on the continuous stone
bench running along the walls. The chapter house was also the loca-
tion for certain liturgies and rituals, such as the annual reenact-
ment of Christ washing the feet of his disciples before Easter. The
walls of this chamber are constructed of limestone and brick and lined
with engaged columns, each surmounted by a capital decorated with
plant, animal, or geometric motifs. Two freestanding monolithic
columns support the rib vaults above. Typical of monastic plans, the
room opens onto the cloister walk through three large arches.
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Much of Notre-Dame-de-Pontaut was damaged during an attack
by the Huguenots in 1569, including the floor above the chapter
house, where the dormitory might have been located. Following the
sale of the monastic buildings to a local family, the chapter house
was converted into a stable (below). It was purchased in 1932 by
Parisian dealer Paul Gouvert, who sold it to the Metropolitan two
years later. Although the tile floor and the plaster vaults are modern
replacements, the rest of the chapter house has been reconstructed
with original materials.

Chapter house from Pontaut serving as a stable, 1930






22 Cross

i ngland, Suffolk, ca. 1150-60
~bssibly from the abbey at
ury St. Edmunds
“alrus ivory with traces of paint
1 x 1400, (57.5 x 36.2 cm)
I he Cloisters Collection, 1963 (63.12)







23 | Martyrdom of

Saint Lawrence
England, Kent, ca. 1175-80
From Christ Church Cathed

pimiiasny

jx32¢n
ection.

In scenes of his martyrdom Saint Lawrence is most often depicted
stretched out on a gridiron (or grill). Here, however, Lawrence is
shown in an attitude of supplication, an image inspired by the writ
ings of Saint Augustine and Saint Ambrose. These doctors of the
church contended that Saint Lawrence overcame the external fire—
the red flames seen licking at his feet—Dby the power of three fires
within: the ardor of faith, the love of Christ, and the true knowledg:
of God. These internal fires are represented by the two horizontal
bands of rose-colored flame and the flame above Lawrence’s head.
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24 | Initial V from a Bible
France, Burgundy (Yonne),

ca. 175-95

From the abbey at Pontigny
Tempera on parchment

107 % 6 in. (27.5 x 15.2 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1999
(1999-364.2)

In its architecture and decoration, including an important
program of stained-glass windows, Christ Church Cathedral at
Canterbury is a major monument of the transitional style between
Romanesque and Gothic that emerged about 1200. The importance
of Canterbury increased dramatically after the murder of its arch-
bishop, Thomas Becket, in 1170. Becket was canonized only three
years later, and his tomb quickly became an important destination
for pilgrims.

LroruTOefre nenundamecomparar.

by |dolafifacenda.

vt Sabtagruanda.  fdranmur:

Lot Sellitaffumritimandamiicufto.

frevvie | niblanontbyee fameet plagifcath
gandos fi pgprmniferuanmr.

Lonre. (Jommmagulout e pooffe
rendit.n peeadiby i murandum.
Grpliommr apmuta.

The Bible that originally contained this initial and a second example
at The Cloisters has been lost. Both initials were removed from the
manuscript, undoubtedly by an admiring collector, sometime during
the nineteenth century. The V, which encloses two energetic lions
amid vibrant foliage, marked the opening of the Book of Leviticus:
“Vocavit autem Moysen et locutus est ei Dominus de tabernaculo”
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25 | Plaque with Censing
Angels

France, Limousin (Haute-Vienne),
Limoges, ca. 1170-80

Champlevé enamel and copper gilt
4% x 8%in. (11 x 22.1 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 2001
(2001.634)

(And the Lord called Moses, and spoke to him from the tabernacle).
Impressively large multivolume Bibles (some nearly twenty
inches or more in height) are among the greatest achievements of
twelfth-century manuscript illumination, and the Cistercian abbey
of Pontigny in the diocese of Sens—where the Bible that once con-
tained this initial came from—was renowned in the twelfth century
for its collection. The monastery was a haven for the exiled English
prelate Thomas Becket after his dispute with King Henry II of
England and just before his martyrdom in Canterbury Cathedral in
1170. During the French Revolution the library at Pontigny was
confiscated, the fate of so much French ecclesiastical art.

The two mournful, half-length angels on this plaque are set against
stylized clouds and a brilliant gilt background engraved in a delicate
scrolling pattern known as vermiculé. As they swing censers, the
angels incline their heads to look down on what once was the
crucified figure of Christ below. The plaque originally decorated
what must have been one of the largest crosses produced in the
prolific workshops of Limoges. The power of the design, the rich-
ness of the enameling, the control of the engraving, and the fine
stippled decoration that accents the gilded lines of copper testify to
the extraordinarily accomplished work made in that city by the end
of the twelfth century. Judging from the size of surviving Limoges
crosses, it is estimated that the cross embellished with this plaque
would have stood at least four feet high. Although no cross of a size
even approaching that survives, documents attest to the presence of
monumental enameled crosses in Limoges and the surrounding




26 | Reliquary Cross

France, Limousin (Haute-Vienne),
Limoges, ca. 1180

Silver gilt, crystal, and glass
cabochons; wood core

1% x 4% x 11in. (29.8 x 12.5 x 2.5 cm)
with tang

Purchase, Michel David-Weill Gift,
The Cloisters Collection, and
Mme. Robert Gras Gift, in memory
of Dr. Robert Gras, 2002 (2002.18)

area. Three other surviving pieces from the cross are known: from
the bottom, a plaque depicting Adam rising from his tomb (Museo
Sacro Vaticano, Vatican City), and from the lateral terminals the
mourning figures of Saint John the Evangelist and the Virgin
(British Museum, London).

This well-preserved,
double-armed sil-
ver reliquary cross
is bejeweled on both
sides with more
than sixty glass
cabochons. The
surface is further
embellished with
twisted wire, bead-
ing, repoussé florets,
and engraved con-
centric circles. The
relics, showcased
in the gilded rec-
tangular plaque at
the intersection of
the upper arm and
set behind rock
crystal cabochons
on the principal
face of the cross, are
identified in inscrip-
tions engraved on
the sides. The most
important is a piece
of the True Cross,
which was reput-
edly found in the
fourth century by
Helena, mother of
Constantine the Great, and was thought to be the actual cross on
which Christ was crucified. That relic, along with the double-arm
form of the cross (derived from early Byzantine examples), under-
scores the well-known connections with the Holy Land that existed
in central France during the twelfth century as a result of the Cru-
sades. Some Romanesque churches in the region, for example,
incorporated domes in imitation of the Holy Sepulcher in Jerusalem.
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27 | Cloister from Saint-
Guilhem-le-Désert

France, Languedoc-Roussillon
(Hérault), late 12th century

From the abbey church of Saint-
Guilhem-le-Désert, near Montpellier
Limestone

30 ft. 3 in. x 23 ft. 10 in.

(922 x 726 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1925
(25.120.1-.134)

581

Approximately 140 elements from the abbey church of Saint-Guilhem-
le-Désert, such as columns, pilasters, and capitals, were used to
reconstruct this cloister. Installed here on the ground level, most of
them are in fact believed to have come from the upper level of the
original two-story structure. The carving reveals considerable classi-
cal influence, especially in the use of motifs such as acanthus leaves
and meander patterns. Deep, cylindrical drill holes create a marvelous
contrast of light and shadow on the carved surfaces of the stone
blocks. Some of the columns and pilasters even resemble tree
trunks or scrolling leaves. In addition to a variety of foliate designs,
a few of the capitals are decorated with narrative scenes, such as the
Presentation in the Temple and the Mouth of Hell (see p. 6o).

The cloister was part of a Benedictine abbey founded in 804
by Guilhem, duke of Aquitaine, count of Toulouse, and later saint
(canonized 1066). The lower level of the cloister was completed in
the early twelfth century, but the upper story, referred to as the “new
cloister” (claustrum novum), is not mentioned in documents until
1206. The abbey, a regular stop on the pilgrimage route to Santiago
de Compostela in northwestern Spain, suffered severe damage dur-
ing the Wars of Religion and the French Revolution. By about 1850
some architectural and sculptural components of the cloister had
been purchased by Pierre-Yon Verniére, a local judge, for display in
his garden (below). In 1906 his heir sold the fragments, which
were soon purchased by George Grey Barnard.

Architectural
elements from Saint-
Guilhem-le-Désert
on display in the
garden of Pierre-Yon
Verniére, before
1906
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Details of capitals from Saint-Guilhem
Cloister, showing the Mouth of Hell
(above) and acanthus leaves (below).
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28 | Corbel

France, Aquitaine (Gironde),
1150-1200

From the abbey of Notre-Dame-de-
la-Grande-Sauve, near Bordeaux
Limestone

32 x 15% x 18%2in.

(81.3 x 39.1 x 47 cm)

Gift of George Blumenthal, 1934
(34.21.2)

This corbel, decorated with acrobatically intertwined figures pulling
at one another’s hair, belongs to a group from the Benedictine mona-
stery of Notre-Dame-de-la-Grande-Sauve. They once supported the
exterior cornice of the twelfth-century church and are embellished
with a wide range of patterns and motifs. Many are still at the abbey;
others are in different French and American collections. As a group,
the corbels reveal a preference for acanthus leaves, a stylized ren-
dering of anatomy, and a calligraphic treatment of hair, mane, and
other linear details. Of the ten corbels now at The Cloisters, two are
decorated with foliate motifs. Several of the others display more -
mischievous activities, such as hair or beard pulling and mouth
poking, and a few are even sexually suggestive, perhaps an allusion
to humanity’s inner demons and licentious fantasies. Corbels like
these enjoyed a lasting popularity and can be found on the exterior
of many medieval churches.
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29 | Torso of Christ This fragmentary but sensitively carved sculpture was for many
years considered to be from a crucifix. The position of Christ’s body,
however, which is bent slightly at the waist,
suggests that the piece more likely was
one of a group of sculptures that repre-
sented the Deposition, or the removal
of Christ’s body from the Cross.
Despite major losses, the torso
retains great sculptural power arising
from the careful modeling of the
body and the rhythmic patterns of
the drapery. When discovered by
George Grey Barnard near
Lavaudieu, the piece was being
used in a field as a scarecrow.
The arms, legs, and (probably)
head were originally separate
pieces held in place by dowels
in mortise-and-tenon joints.
The original paint is obscured
by a fourteenth-century
overpainting. Examination
has revealed that one
layer of the loincloth was
originally lapis lazuli
blue studded with
applied tin leaf and a
brilliant red lining.

from a Deposition

France, Auvergne (Haute-Loire),
late 12th century

Said to come from the abbey at
Lavaudieu

Poplar, gesso, paint, and
metal leaf

43 x13%x 9%z in.

(109.2 x 34.9 x 24.1 cm)
The Cloisters Collection,
1925 (25.120.221)
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30 | Altar Frontal The altar, before which the Mass is celebrated, is the most important

Catalunya, Lleida, ca. 1225 piece of liturgical furnishing within a church. In a large church
From the parish church of there are often many altars—the high altar, in the choir, and several
Ginestarre de Cardés . more in various chapels and other spaces. At the center of this altar
W‘:/°d wgth gf/ss.“ canvas, and paint frontal from the church of Ginestarre de Cardés are the Enthroned
gs";xsl 4;3 ; ;ném) Virgin and Child encircled by a mandorla, which is supported by
The Cloisters Collection, 1925 four angels (the bottom two damaged). Eight apostles, haloed and
(25.120.256) standing under round arches, accompany the central group. Painted

inscriptions along the upper border give the names of six saints:
Simon, Jude, Matthew, John, Thomas, and Barnabas. The composition
is surrounded by a procession of prancing lions, each enclosed in a
roundel. The bottom edge is missing.

This altar frontal was decorated using a technique that sought to
imitate the gold or silver frontals made for large cathedrals or wealthy
monasteries, To achieve the luxurious appearance of the enamels
and gemstones often set into more elaborate examples, the design
was molded in low relief in gesso and then embellished with paint.
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31 I Segment of a g l'his richly carved ivory shaft was once a section

Crosier Shaft of a crosier, the staff carried by bishops and

X abbots as a symbol of their office. The carving
North Spain, late 12th century

Elephant ivory is divided into four zones. At the top, Christ
H. 11 % in. (28.6 cm) R is enthroned within a mandorla embellished

Diam. 175 1n. (3.5 cm) : ‘ with bust-length figures of the Elders of the
I'he Cloisters Collection, 1981

Apocalypse. On the reverse of that register, the
Q81.1)

Virgin and Child appear enthroned within
another mandorla. Filling the two middle regis
ters are .Hl;L"]\ dressed as deacons. They are set
within arcades, and each carries an orb and a
staff surmounted by a lantern. The lower regis-
ter d:-plux an angel presenting a miter to an
enthroned bishop as a kneeling, secular donor

hands him his crosier. Because the bishop is not

represented as a saint, it seems likely that the

scene refers to the installation of a historical

I)l\hll[)




32 | Bowl of a Drinking Cup

England or Scandinavia,

late 12th century

Silver, silver gilt, and niello

H. 2% in. (7 cm); Diam. 6% in.
(17.1 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1947
(47-101.31)

33 | Clasp

South Lowlands, valley of the Meuse,
about 1200

Gilt copper alloy

2¥%x 2% x ¥ in. (5.4 x 7.3 x 1.6 cm)
The Cloisters Collection, 1947
(47.101.48)

With its lively nude male figures and dragons entwined in foliage,
this bow] was likely part of a secular drinking cup rather than a
ciborium (a vessel that holds the Host) or a chalice for use in the
Mass, as was once thought. Between the principal compartments
inhabited by the nude figures and dragons are smaller areas with

basilisks. The heads of the men and beasts are in high relief, and
the bands between the compartments and the palmette frieze below
the rim are crisply rendered. The decoration of the bowl has parallels
in twelfth-century English art, but similar pieces have also been
found in Sweden. This example was discovered near the Ob’ River
in Siberia, an indication of how objects in the Middle Ages some-
times circulated far from their place of manufacture.

Richly decorated and probably destined for secular use, this clasp
depicts an enigmatic scene. A crowned male figure holding an orb
is enthroned at right, his feet resting on the back of a lion, as a
kneeling attendant places a hand on his shoulder. On the other side
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34 | Relief with the

Annunciation

Italy, Tuscany, ca. 11801200
From the church of San Piero
Scheraggio in Florence
Marble and serpentine

26V x 24 x 4% in.

(67.3 x 61 x 12.1 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1960
(60.140)
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is a veiled female figure, also accompanied by an attendant, resting
her feet on a basilisk. Although the couple has sometimes been seen
as Solomon and Sheba or as Esther and Ahasuerus, no conclusive
identification has emerged. Compositionally, the figures recall late-
twelfth-century depictions of the Coronation of the Virgin. The stylistic
features of the clasp, such as the drapery drawn tight around the
figures and the foliage they inhabit, can be compared to goldsmith
works produced in the Meuse valley about 1200.
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The pulpit was a prominent element in the medieval church. It was
usually raised on columns above the choir and, during the Middle
Ages, used for readings from the Gospels and the Epistles. In this
panel from a pulpit, the Archangel Gabriel announces to the Virgin
that she will be the mother of Christ. The figures appear beneath an
elaborate arcade supported by twisted columns; the arches are
embellished with egg-and-dart molding and surmounted by a design
evoking a city wall. The marble relief, with its decorative border
inlaid with serpentine, is characteristic of Tuscan sculpture at the



35 | Lion Passant

Spain, Castilla-Le6n (Burgos),

after 1200

From a room above the chapter house
of the monastery of San Pedro de
Arlanza, near Burgos

Fresco transferred to canvas

7 x 11 ft. (213 x 335 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1931
(31.38.13, b)

end of the Romanesque period (about 1200). It is one of seven
figurative carvings from a rectangular pulpit originally in the
Florentine church of San Piero Scheraggio (now incorporated into
the Uffizi). In 1782 the other six panels were moved to the suburban
church of San Leonardo at Arcetri.

The Benedictine monastery of San Pedro de Arlanza, in northern
Spain, was founded in 912 by Fernin Gonzilez, count of Castile. A
two-story square structure stood southeast of the monastic church.
The ground level of that building served as the chapter house; the
room on the upper level was decorated with an extensive fresco cycle,
including this mustachioed, prancing lion. The beast is framed
within a rectangular field set against a background of solid bands of
earth tones. Human and animal figures, both realistic and fantastic,
fill the horizontal borders below the lion and its companion piece,
which depicts a winged dragon. The Cloisters’ lion was half of an
imposing pair of lions on the east wall (the other is in the Museu
Nacional d’Art de Catalunya, Barcelona). The Cloisters’ dragon faced a
griffin (also in Barcelona) across a double window on the south wall.
Although the date for the construction of the building is unknown,
the style and subject matter of the frescoes suggest they were executed
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36 | Doorway from

Notre-Dame at Reugny
France, Loire Valley (Indre-et-Loire),
late 12th century

From the church of Notre-Dame at
Reugny, near Clermont-Ferrand
Limestone

14 ft. oY in. x 11 ft. 2% in.

(452 x 342 cm)

Gift of George Blumenthal, 1934
(34.120.1-.120)

Priory of Notre-
Dame at Reugny,
1920 -

68|

in the early thirteenth century. The frescoes were hidden beneath a
layer of plaster applied as part of an eighteenth-century renovation
and were only rediscovered in 1894, when a fire destroyed some of
the plaster. By that time the monastery was already in private hands.
The frescoes, along with everything else on-site, were removed and
sold in the late 1920s to different institutions and private collectors.

This doorway once stood on the west facade of the small Augustinian
priory of Notre-Dame at Reugny (above), not far from Clermont-
Ferrand in central France. The three pairs of columns flanking the
door have molded archivolts above them, which form a gently
pointed arch typical of the mid- to late twelfth century. A five-lobed
arch crowns the door opening; on the tips of its four cusps are the
symbols of the Four Evangelists, and four flowerlike decorations
adorn the spandrels in between. The remnant of a statue is visible
on the right jamb.

The doorway belongs to a sizable yet little-known group of poly-
lobed doorways, typically having about three to seven lobes, found
in central France. Sometime after 1920 this example was sold to
George Blumenthal, who installed it in his Paris home as the main
entrance to his freestanding “Salle de Musique.” In 1934 Blumenthal
donated the doorway to The Cloisters, where it now stands at the
entrance to the Saint-Guilhem Cloister.






37 | Doorway from

Moutiers-Saint-Jean

France, Burgundy (Céte-d’Or),

ca. 1250

From the abbey of Moutiers-Saint-
Jean, near Dijon

Limestone with traces of paint

15 ft. 5 in. x 12 ft. 7 in. (4.7 x 3.8 m)
The Cloisters Collection, 1932 (32.147)
The Cloisters Collection, 1940 (40.51.1)
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The tympanum of this doorway, framed by a trefoil arch, is decorated
with the Coronation of the Virgin attended by two kneeling angels.
Six other kneeling angels on the surrounding archivolt hold liturgical
instruments. On each side of the door is a row of biblical figures in
niches. Two large crowned figures, identified in a 1567 description
as the Merovingian kings Clovis and Clothar, stand before the jamb
columns. According to the same document, the doorway, from the
monastery of Moutiers-Saint-Jean, probably served as the south
transept portal, facing the cloister.

Founded in the sixth century by followers of Saint John of Réome,
Moutiers-Saint-Jean and its archives suffered severe damage during
the Wars of Religion and the French Revolution. Our knowledge of
the abbey and its physical appearance can only be gleaned from
the handful of drawings produced by the Maurist brothers whose
congregation took over the
monastery in the mid-1630s. In
1797 the surviving remains of
the monastery were sold into
private hands; it was probably
during this period that the door-
way, without the royal figures,
was refitted for a farm structure
(left). In the 1920s the owner of
the farm sold the doorway,
which entered The Cloisters’ col-
lection in 1932. The figures of
Clovis and Clothar, decapitated
probably in the eighteenth cen-
tury and variously reassembled
since, were acquired from a
different owner eight years later.

Doorway from Moutiers-Saint-Jean fitted
into a farm building, 1929






38 | Theodosius Arrives This panel is part of an extensive cycle depicting the legend of the

at Ephesus Seven Sleepers, who, having converted to Christianity during the
France, Normandy (Seine-Maritime), time of tl?e Ror’nan‘emperor Dec1us (r. 249-51), hid in a cave near
ca. 1200-1205 Ephesus in Asia Minor to avoid being persecuted. As Roman sol-
From the nave aisle of the cathedral diers sealed the cave with a boulder, God answered their prayers for
of Notre-Dame at Rouen safety by putting the group into a deep sleep. Awakening two cen-

Pot-metal glass and vitreous paint turies later in the reign of the Christian emperor Theodosius 11
25 x 28%s in. (63.5 x 71.5 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1980 (r. 408-50), one of the Seven Sleepers tried to buy bread with an

(1980.263.4) obsolete gold coin and was thought to be a thief. Only after the
Sleepers had been brought before the authorities was their story
recognized as a miracle.

The cycle was originally made for side-aisle windows in the
nave of the cathedral of Notre-Dame in Rouen in the early thirteenth
century. Side-aisle chapels were added in the 1270s, so the glass
was refitted in the windows of the new chapels. This one depicts
Theodosius arriving at Ephesus to visit the Sleepers. The lively
gestures and vivid colors attest to the superb quality of the glass,
ranked among the best cycles of the period.
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39 | Scenes from the Life
of Saint Nicholas

France, Picardy (Aisne), ca. 1200-1210
From the cathedral of Saint-Gervais-
Saint-Protais at Soissons

Pot-metal glass and vitreous paint
21% x 16 in. (54.2 x 40.7 cm);

21%2x 16 Y4 in. (54.6 x 41.3 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1980
(1980.263.2, .3)

This scene and the one on the following page illustrate an early
episode in the life of Saint Nicholas, soon after he was elected
bishop of Myra in Asia Minor in the fourth century. The one above
shows two knights, identified by their shirts of mail, being falsely
accused of treason and condemned to death by the consul. A third
knight, the right arm of the consul, and the beginning of the
inscription—{s N]1co/ Lavs: Pr[A]EsEs/ MILITES (Nicholas protects
the soldiers)—were lost when the panel was cut down at an undeter-
mined time. In the second scene, Nicholas responds to the knights’
prayers by appearing before the consul to plead for their release.
A palace guard looks on from the left.

The panels probably came from an ambulatory chapel dedicated
to Saint Nicholas in the cathedral of Soissons, whose choir was
under construction in the 1190s. This type of composition, in which
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each narrative element is framed under an arcade, is among the
earliest known examples of its kind and is strongly associated with
Soissons. The elegant figural style and flowing drapery patterns
exemplify a classicizing trend found in northern France from the
late twelfth through the early thirteenth century.




40 | Chalice

Northern Europe, possibly valley
of the Meuse, dated 1222
Silver and silver gilt

H. 7% in. (19.1 cm); Diam. 5% in.

(13.7 cm)
The Cloisters Collection, 1947
(47.101.30)

The Latin inscription on the foot of the chalice reads: AD HONOREM
B. MARIE VIRGINIS F. BERTINUS ME FECIT Ao McCxxII (In honor of
the Blessed Virgin brother Bertinus made this in the year 1222).
The inscription is remarkable because historians of medieval art
rarely have the advantage of a date or the name of a patron or
maker. It is all the more frustrating, then, that brother Bertinus has
not been further identified, and that the place where this chalice was
manufactured thus remains unknown. The style, apparent in the
richly decorated knop with encircling dragons, is closely related to
the metalwork production in the Meuse valley, in present-day Bel-
gium. Mosan metalworkers were widely admired, though, so it is
possible the chalice was produced elsewhere in northern Europe by
a silversmith imitating the Mosan style.
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41

| Arm Reliquary

Documents tell us that reliquaries i

form of hands and arms were

ning in the early Middle Ages

such reliquaries contained relics « ‘
they represented. In this example the hand
gestures in benediction, with the thumb
and first two fingers raised

the relics, regardless of their type would
have served to increase the sacral power of
this gesture. The two large holes in the arm
served as cavities for the relics (now lost)
and were probably originally covered with
rock crystals. The reliquary is distinguished
artistically by a series of fine filigree and
niello plaques, which compare closely with
Mosan work of about 1230. Some of the
niello plaques are purely decorative in
pattern, but five near the top represent
figurative images such as Saints Peter

and Paul.




42 | Chalice, Paten, and
Straw

Germany, Upper Rhineland, probably
Freiburg im Breisgau, ca. 1230-50
From the Benedictine monastery of
Saint Trudpert at Miinsterthal, near
Freiburg im Breisgau

Silver, silver gilt, niello, and jewels
Chalice: H. 8 in. (20.3 cm);

Diam. 7% in. (19.7 cm)

Paten: Diam. 8% in. (22.2 cm)
Straw: H. 1 in. (2.5 cm); W. 8%z in.
(21.6 cm); Diam. % in. (0.6 cm)
The Cloisters Collection, 1947
(47.101.26-.29)

The chalice, paten, and straw were all used to celebrate the Eucharist,
the commemoration of Christ’s sacrifice by the taking of consecrated
bread and wine believed to be transformed into his body and blood
during Mass. The chalice contained the consecrated wine, which was
sipped with the straw to prevent spilling even a drop, and the paten
held the bread. The four Old Testament scenes represented in relief
on the foot of this chalice were seen as prefigurations of the New
Testament scenes on the knop above: Moses and the Burning Bush
(the Annunciation); the Flowering of Aaron’s Rod (the Nativity); Noah's
Ark (the Baptism of Christ); and Moses and the Brazen Serpent
(the Crucifixion). The niello decoration on the exterior of the bowl
represents Christ enthroned with the standing figures of the Twelve
Apostles. The paten includes a half-length figure of Christ holding a
chalice and the Host. He is flanked by the Old Testament figures
Abel, offering a lamb, and Melchisedech, clad as a bishop and raising
a chalice. The fourth figure on the paten is Saint Trudpert, who
holds a martyr’s palm, indicating that this set of implements comes
from the monastery of Saint Trudpert, near Freiburg im Breisgau.
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43 | Virgin

Germany (modern France), Alsace,

ca. 1250

From the former choir screen of
the cathedral of Strasbourg
Sandstone with original paint

H. 58"z in. (148.6 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1947
(47.101.11)

The monumental choir screen at
Strasbourg Cathedral, where this almost
lifesize statue of the Virgin once stood,
was demolished in 1682 in response to
changing liturgical practices. A 1630
engraving by Isaac Brunn (ca. 1590~
after 1657) shows the original appear-
ance of the screen, which stood at
the juncture of the nave and cross-
ing. It was constructed with two
parallel rows of seven arches.
Above the arches was a parapet
platform decorated with open-
work quatrefoils from which
announcements were made and
sermons delivered. The standing
statues, including this Virgin,
were installed between the
gabled arches facing the nave.
Another image from about 1660
(opposite, top) shows our statue
as the fourth figure from the left.
To her right was the Christ Child
(now missing) sitting on a rose-
bush, a symbol of the Virgin as a
“rose without thorns.” The now
armless Virgin gazes gently at the
viewer. The tender expression
on her face and the cascading
drapery of her robe combine to
create a sense of realism that is
at once elegant and engaging.
The statue is all the more
remarkable because much of
its painted decoration survives,
a reminder that most Gothic
sculpture was embellished
this way.



Jean-Jacques Arhardt (active 17th
century). Choir Screen of Strasbourg
Cathedral, ca. 166o. Engraving,

145/8 x 7'/s in. (37 x 18 cm). The Elisha
Whittelesey Collection, The Elisha
Whittelesey Fund, 1951 (51.501.6551 [8))

44 | Head

France, fle-de-France, Paris,

ca. 1250

Limestone

H. 9% in. (24.5 cm)

Purchase, Michel David-Weill Gift,
1990 (1990.132)

Scientific analysis of the limestone used for this engaging head,
perhaps that of an angel, confirms that it is the same as the stone
with which the cathedral of Notre-Dame in Paris was built. The sen-
sitive carving of the smiling face and the deeply cut, lively treatment
of the hair link the head to the sculpture on the cathedral’s north
transept, which dates to about 1245. The well-preserved surface,
however, suggests that the head was originally from an interior
ensemble, possibly the cathedral’s massive jubé, or choir screen
(destroyed in the seventeenth century), or, alternatively, the interior
of a transept. The head could also have come from another Parisian
church of the mid-thirteenth century.
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45 | Two Scenes from the
Legend of Saint Germain

of Paris

France, ile-de-France, Paris, 1247-50
From the former Lady Chapel of the
Benedictine abbey of Saint-Germain-
des-Prés in Paris

Pot-metal glass and vitreous paint
25% x 15% in. (63.8 x 40 cm) each
The Cloisters Collection, 1973
(1973.262.1, .2)

8o}

Prior to its demolition in 1802, the Lady Chapel of the royal abbey
of Saint-Germain-des-Prés was glazed with an extensive program
of stained glass. Legends of the Virgin Mary, Saint Vincent of
Saragossa, and Saint Germain of Paris, on color-saturated glass,
occupied the seven windows in the apse. Ornamental grisaille glass
decorated windows along the straight bays. The two panels at The
Cloisters depict scenes from the legend of Germain and the history
of his relics. In the first panel, a servant girl appears carrying two
wine flasks, one of which contains poison. Unaware of the danger,
she serves the wine to Germain and his unfortunate companion, who
drinks the poison and dies instantly. In the second panel, a dream-
ing monk is reassured by Germain himself that the saint’s relics
would remain unharmed during the imminent Norman invasion.
As originally arranged, each narrative scene in the Lady Chapel
would have included four glass panels forming a complete oval.
Some of these ovals constituted one scene, while in others the top
and bottom halves contained one scene each. The ovals were
arranged vertically and interlocked by a single quatrefoil at every




46 | Enthroned Virgin
and Child

France, lle-de-France, Paris,

ca. 1260-80

Elephant ivory with traces of paint
and gilding

7% x 3 in. (18.4 x 7.6 cm)
Purchase, The Cloisters Collection
and Michel David-Weill Gift, 1999
{1999-208)

contact point. The Lady Chapel's windows were probably made by
an itinerant workshop whose stained glass can be traced to several
sites in the {le-de-France.

Paris emerged as the cultural capital of western Europe during the
reign of King Louis IX (1226-70), a time when ivory became an
important medium for sculpture. Ivory had often been a scarce com-
modity during the earlier Middle Ages, but it appears that a continu-
ous supply of African elephant ivory was available in Paris beginning
about the middle of the thirteenth century until nearly the end of the
fourteenth. The delicate features of this Virgin and the sensitively
carved folds of her mantle reveal the extraordinary skill of Parisian
ivory carvers. Even though the head of the Christ Child is a modern
replacement and the statuette has lost all but traces of its original
painted and gilded decoration, the work still conveys the intimate
communication between mother and child intended by the sculptor.
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47 | Diptych with the
Coronation of the Virgin
and the Last jJudgment

France, fle-de-France,
probably Paris, ca. 1260-70
Elephant ivory

5% 5Y&in. (12.7 x 13 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1970
(1970.324.7a, b)
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The new market for ivory carving that arose in Paris during the
reign of Louis IX was fueled at least in part by the growing demand
for works of art to be used for private devotion. The diptych form,
seen here, proved ideal because they are highly portable, with the
fragile carving protected inside the closed leaves. Thus ivory dip-
tychs, rare in western Europe before the thirteenth century, became
relatively commonplace by the fourteenth century.

This example is extraordinary for the fine quality of its deeply
carved figures and the vivid imagery. At right, in the upper register,
is Christ enthroned in Judgment and displaying the wounds from
his Crucifixion. Angels appear bearing the Instruments of the Pas-
sion, and the Virgin and Saint John kneel in supplication. Below,
trumpeting angels herald the rising of the dead, and the damned
are hurled into the Mouth of Hell in the lower right corner. The
Coronation of the Virgin is depicted in the upper section of the left
leaf, while in the lower section we see the saved—including a friar
followed by a king, a pope, and another cleric—being led by an
angel up a ladder to heaven.



48 | Enthroned Virgin
and Child

England, probably London, ca. 1300
Elephant ivory

10% x 5% x 3% in.

(27.3 x13.5 X 9.6 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1979
(1979.402)

Gothic ivory carving first emerged in Paris and in northern France,
but by about 1300 other centers had begun to appear. Although
English ivories are comparatively rare, stylistic comparisons with
architectural sculptures and with some ivories displaying English
coats of arms indicate that this grand statuette was probably carved
there. Most of the figure of the Christ Child is now missing, but the
remaining part of his leg by the Virgin's left knee suggests that he
was probably carved in a lively pose. The cavity in the Virgin’s chest
may have originally held a jewel, and she was probably seated on a
throne made of a different material. The unusually dark color of the
ivory might be the result of an application of walnut oil—as recom-
mended by the twelfth-century monk Theophilus in his treatise On
Divers Arts—or an effect of exposure to extreme heat.
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49 | Cloister from Bonnefont-

en-Comminges

France, Pyrénées-Aquitaine
(Haute-Garonne), late 13th or early
14th century

From the Cistercian abbey at
Bonnefont-en-Comminges and
other nearby monasteries

Marble

54 ft. 3 in. x 49 ft. (16.6 x 14.9 m)
The Cloisters Collection, 1925
(25.120.778)

Detail of capitals
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Bonnefont-en-Comminges, a Cistercian abbey, was founded in 1136
by monks from Morimond in Burgundy. The carving style of the
twenty-one double capitals from its cloister installed at the Museum
is comparable to that found in late-thirteenth- and early-fourteenth-
century cloisters in nearby Toulouse. The designs fall loosely into
two groups: those with bulbous curled leaves and those with flat-
tened foliage (below). During the French Revolution the abbey
archives were burned and its buildings demolished, and many Bon-
nefont elements eventually found their way into the homes of local
residents. The extent of the dispersal is attested by the manner in
which the Bonnefont fragments entered the Museum: partly donated
by J. P. Morgan (1916), and partly purchased from George Grey
Barnard (1925) and Joseph Brummer (1944).

Not copied after any specific model, the layout of the Bonnefont
Cloister garden approximates that of a medieval herb garden, with
raised beds bordered by bricks and wattle fences. Grouped and
labeled according to their medieval usage (e.g., medicinal, culinary,
magic, household), all of the plants grown in the garden are species
documented in medieval sources, such as the ninth-century Capitu-
lare de villis vel curtis imperialibus (Directive for the Administration
of Imperial Courts). Of particular interest are the plants used by
medieval artists, including those providing pigments for manuscript
painting and textile dyeing.







50 | Double-Lancet Window

France, Poitou-Charentes (Vienne),
ca. 12751300

From the church of La Tricherie, near
Chitellerault

Limestone

13 ft. 6in. x7 ft. % in.

(411.5 x 214.9 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1934
(34-20.1)
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This limestone window from La Tricherie, a small village near
Chétellerault (between Tours and Poitiers), is constructed in a style
typical of the late thirteenth century. The overall opening is organized
into two identical lancets topped by a circle (oculus), which circum-
scribes a quatrefoil—a basic scheme that first appeared in window
designs in the late twelfth century. In this version new elements
have been introduced, such as trefoils composed of pointed, rather
than rounded, leaf forms. The desire to create a diaphanous effect
is evident in the piercing of the remaining surfaces between trac-
eries, which leaves no solid fields in the skeletal structure. Small
capitals decorate the vertical members (mullions) of the inscribed
lancets. On the interior face the capitals are carved with broad,
flattened leaves; on the exterior face the outer two are transformed
into whimsical male and female heads.



51 | Tomb Effigy of
Jean d’Alluye

France, Loire Valley (Indre-et-Loire),
mid-13th century

From the Cistercian abbey of

La Clarté-Dieu, north of Tours
Limestone

83V % 34V x 13% 0.

(212.1 x 87.6 x 34.9 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1925
(25.120.201)

The effigy of Jean d’Alluye shows the knight in full armor, including
the surcoat he wears over a long-sleeved mail shirt. His sword
hangs from a belt and is partially obscured by a large shield. The
arms and armor depicted are typical thirteenth-century chivalric
accoutrements, as is his footrest in the form of a lion, a symbol of
bravery and valor. The youthful features of the recumbent effigy, a
type known as a gisant, are probably idealized portrayals of a knight
in his prime rather than a representation of his actual age at death.
Jean assumed the title of seigneur of Chateaux and Saint-Christophe
in 1209 and returned from a visit to the Holy Land with a fragment
of the True Cross. He died before July 1248.

The tomb was once in the Cistercian abbey of La Clarté-Dieu,
founded in 1239/40 on a property over which Jean had seigneurial
rights. Following the French Revolution, the abbey was destroyed,
and the effigy—alleged to have
served as a footbridge over a
stream—eventually found
its way into the nearby
Chateau Hodebert. It
was purchased in
1910 by George
Grey Barnard.




52 | Sepulchral Monument
of Ermengol VII, Count of
Urgell

Catalunya, Lleida, ca. 1300-1350
From the Premonstratensian
monastery of Santa Maria de Bellpuig
de les Avellanes

Limestone and traces of paint

89 x79%2 x 35 in.

(226.1 x 201.9 x 88.9 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1928 (28.95)
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This elaborate structure, supported by three stone lions, is the sepul-
chral monument traditionally associated with Ermengol VII, count
of Urgell. The various styles and disparate dimensions of the individ-
ual parts of the tomb suggest that it was assembled from elements
originally intended for several different monuments. The effigy itself
shows the count resting his head on two tasseled cushions, with his
eyes closed and his hands crossed above a sheathed sword. A group of
mourners, now damaged, is carved into the same slab, just behind
the effigy. Below is a carved panel showing Christ in Majesty, at center,
accompanied by the Twelve Apostles, all standing under traceried arches.
A separate relief above the effigy shows a funeral rite, with three cele-
brants, at center, standing beneath pointed arches. At the top, on a much
smaller rectangular panel, are angels transporting a soul to heaven.



53 | Stained Glass with
Emperor Henry 1l and

Queen Kunigunde
Austria, Carinthia (Lavanttal),
1340-50

From the choir and north chapel
windows of the church of Saint
Leonhard at Bad St. Leonhard in
Lavanttal, near Klagenfurt
Pot-metal glass, white glass,

and vitreous paint

39 X 17% in. (99.I x 45.1 cm);
38Ya x 17%2in. (97.8 x 44.5 cm)
The Cloisters Collection, 1965
(65.96.3-.4)

According to tradition, the monastery of Santa Maria de Bellpuig
de les Avellanes was founded by Ermengol VII and his wife, dofia
Dulcia. Ermengol died in 1184, but not until about 1300 were plans
made by Ermengol X to construct a chapel as the family necropolis.
Little progress had been made at the time of the latter’s death in
1314, and the chapel was not completed until the eighteenth cen-
tury. The original appearance and intended placement of the tombs
can thus no longer be ascertained, but their refined execution ranks
them among the outstanding examples of Catalan Gothic sculpture.
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The church of Saint Leonhard was constructed in the early decades
of the fourteenth century, with some of its choir and chapel windows
in place by 1350. The program of the choir windows included scenes
from the life of Christ as well as images of the Twelve Apostles and
locally venerated saints. Seventeen panels from six different windows
at Saint Leonhard are now installed in three lancet windows in the
Gothic Chapel. The center window contains narrative scenes, while
more static, iconic images occupy the two flanking windows. Some
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54 | Stained Glass with the
Baptism of Christ and
the Agony in the Garden

Austria, Lower Austria, ca. 1390
From the choir of the castle chapel at
Ebreichsdorf, south of Vienna
Pot-metal glass, colorless glass,
vitreous paint, and silver stain

28 x 12% in. (71.I x 31.1 cm);

28% x 12%2in. (72.8 x 31.7 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1986
(1986.285.4, .5)
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of the figures are framed within so-called keyhole medallions: poly-
lobed variations on the traditional circles used as framing devices in
France a century earlier. The background is composed largely of
foliate motifs and schematic architectural members, providing a
colorful, intricate contrast to the heavyset figures often admired for
their simple, childlike features.

Standing at the bottom register of the left window are two
crowned figures, identified in an inscription as Holy Roman
Emperor Henry II (r. 1014—24) and his queen, Kunigunde. They are
the patron saints of Heinrich and Kunigunde Kropf, who paid for a
window in the choir of the church. Panels with depictions of the
Kropfs are still in the church today. It is believed that the glass at
Saint Leonhard was made by an itinerant workshop from Juden-
burg, where the Kropfs lived.

Seven scenes from the private chapel of the Ebreichsdorf castle are
installed in the Gothic Chapel. Representing episodes from the life
of Christ—the Annunciation, Adoration of the Magi, Presentation
in the Temple, Baptism, Agony in the Garden, Trial before Pilate,
and Harrowing of Hell—they constitute almost all of the surviving
panels from the original stained-glass
program. The scenes are organized into
vertical groups of four rectangular pan-
els, arranged two over two; the lower
panels in each group are narrative, while
the upper panels represent architectural
canopies. Most of the narrative panels
contain a single scene, as is the case
with the Annunciation, which was
originally paired with a Visitation (now
in Vienna). Others, however, combine to
form a unified episode, such as the Ado-
ration of the Magi.

The glazing program of the chapel
has been attributed to a “ducal workshop”
favored by the local nobility and best
known for its use of rich colors, fanciful
architectural forms, and elegant figural
styles. In the Baptism panel (opposite,
left), the figures of Christ, John the
Baptist, and the dove, representing the
Holy Spirit, are positioned to create an
upward thrust that lends movement and
drama to the overall effect.
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55 | Diptych with Scenes

of the Life of Christ and the
Virgin, Saint Michael, John
the Baptist, Thomas Becket,

and the Trinity

Germany, Lower Rhineland, Cologne,
ca. 1350

Elephant ivory

10 x 8% in. (25.5 x 21.1 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1970
(1970.324.8a, b)
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This large, richly carved diptych is distinct from the many surviving
fourteenth-century French diptychs. Stylistically, it can be compared
to a number of German sculptures, especially the marble reliefs
from the high altar of Cologne Cathedral dating before 1322. The
diptych also incorporates a number of scenes that, in terms of
iconography, are unusual to ivory carving. The sequence begins at
lower left, with two standard episodes from the life of Christ: the
Annunciation, and the Nativity with the Annunciation to the Shep-
herds. This routine narrative is interrupted at lower right by scenes
of saints, which are rarely depicted in ivory carving. Saint Michael
Triumphant over the Dragon and Saint John the Baptist with the
Sacrificial Lamb appear to the left of the Martyrdom of Saint Thomas
Becket. The second and third registers continue with well-known
images: the Adoration of the Magi and the Presentation of Christ in
the Temple, with the Crucifixion to the right, and the Resurrection
of Christ and Descent into Limbo, with the Ascension to the right.
Atypical scenes return in the upper register: the Coronation of the



Virgin, at upper left; the Trinity surrounded by symbols of the Four
Evangelists, to the right of center; and, in the upper right corner,
the Virgin nursing the Christ Child as she is crowned by angels.

56 | Grisaille Lancet The five panels of this lancet window once decorated three different
France, Normandy (Seine-Maritime), windows in the radiating chapels of the abbey church of Saint-Ouen
ca. 1325 at Rouen, in Normandy. As reassembled here, the lancet is only

From the abbey church of Saint-Ouen  one-third its original height. Grisaille glass, which is colorless and
at Rouen . translucent, was a popular glazing device in the thirteenth and four-
White glass, pot-metal glass, vitreous . . . . .
paint, and silver stain teenth centuries. It not only allows more light into the interior than
10 ft. 7% in. x36% in. (3238 x92cm)  color-saturated pot-metal glass, grisaille also functions as an unob-
The Cloisters Collection, 1948 trusive background for ornamental motifs painted with fine brush
(48.183.2) ) lines. Our glass panels are decorated with stylized yet recognizable
-(l;};;?:’g‘;ti’_s ﬁ;’uedm“’ 1984 plants such as periwinkle, strawberry, and artemisia, forming an
e elegant network of foliate motifs. The central bosses of the panels
are richly colored with deep blue, red, yellow, and green. The bosses
would have echoed the brilliantly hued horizontal bands once
located at the windows’ midpoints, which contained scenes from
the life of the saint to whom the chapel was dedicated.
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57 | Pair of Altar Angels

France, Artois (Pas-de-Calais),
ca. 1275-1300

Oak with traces of paint

H. 29%in. (75 cm);

29 in. (73.7 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1952
(52.33.1, .2)
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We know from illuminated manuscripts that angels such as these
in all likelihood were originally placed on freestanding colonettes
around an altar in groups of four or six. The colonettes would have
been linked by rods supporting curtains. Our examples are carved
in the round and are now missing their wings, which were attached
in sockets behind the shoulders. Their hands, also missing, would
have held candles, censers, or the Instruments of the Passion. Like
most sculpture of the period, the angels were almost surely once
painted and gilded. They were probably carved in the late thirteenth
century, but they exhibit the enduring popularity of the style of the
exterior sculpture of Reims Cathedral, particularly in their smiling faces
and curling hairstyle, which dates to about the middle of the century.




58 | Standing Virgin
and Child

France, ile-de-France,

possibly Paris, 1340-50

Limestone, paint, gilding, and glass
H. 68 in. (172.7 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1937 (37.159)

This monumental image of the Virgin and Child is carved in the style
of Parisian sculptures from about 1340. For example, a silver-gilt
statuette given to the abbey of Saint-Denis in 1339 by Jeanne d’Evreux,
widowed queen of Charles IV (now in the Musée du Louvre, Paris),
has essentially the same composition. In both groups the Virgin’s
mantle is pulled across her hips and falls over her right arm. In The
Cloisters’ sculpture the Christ Child playfully reaches for the Virgin’s
veil, while in the Louvre statuette he reaches for her chin. The
Cloisters’ piece also retains most of its original paint and gilding
and appears today much as it would have in the fourteenth century.
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59 | Mirror Case with
Scenes of the Attack on
the Castle of Love

France, ile-de-France,

Paris, ca. 1320-40

Elephant ivory

Diam. 5% in. (14.1 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 2003
(2003.131.1)
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Among the most appealing products of the prolific Parisian ivory-
carving workshops were mirror cases, combs, caskets, and other
precious objects decorated with secular scenes. In this complex
circular relief, twenty-eight figures and five horses occupy the battle-
ments, windows, and grounds before a castle. At the top is the
crowned and winged figure of the god of Love bending down as he

prepares to launch an arrow from his bow. The castle is defended
by a force of ladies armed with roses, which they hurl at the attack-
ing knights (one of whom, at lower left, wields a crossbow). Some
of the women greet the knights with welcoming gestures and
smiles; in the upper left, a lady offers a crown to one of the two
trumpeters flanking the castle and heralding the playful joust about
to occur before the portcullis. Two armed and helmeted knights,
their shields decorated with roses, ride in from the right to face their
female opponents. To the left of the castle entrance is a third knight,

“who has lost his shield and removed his helmet. He stands on his

horse to embrace a lady in a window.



60 | Panel with

Hunting Scenes

France, fle-de-France,

Paris, ca. 1350

Elephant ivory

4% x 12V 1n. (11 x 30.8 cm)
The Cloisters Collection, 2003
(2003.131.2)

61 | Support Figure of a

Seated Cleric or Friar

France, Champagne-Ardenne
(Marne), Reims(?), ca. 1280

Copper alloy with mercury gilding
2% x 1% x 1% 1n. (6.7 x 3.4 x 4.3 cm)
The Cloisters Collection, 1991
(1991.252)

Three scenes from a stag hunt are deeply carved into this exception-
ally large rectangular plaque, the only surviving panel from an

ivory casket with a hinged lid. (The other panels are known from

an eighteenth-century engraving.) The narrative flows from left to
right, beginning with an attendant on horseback. Accompanied by a
hound, he emerges from the castle gate blowing his horn as two
ladies look down on him from the ramparts above. The hunt takes
place in a dense woods. The party comprises two men and two

wormen on horseback; one woman is feeding a falcon, and the other
pursues a bird with a lure. One of the hunters has released an
arrow from his bow that has struck the stag, while the other hunter
drives his sword into the beast, already tormented by the hounds.
The hunt continues on the right with the stag drinking from a foun-
tain as the hunter again stabs the animal with his blade.

The pose of this statuette of a cleric or friar, echoing ancient figures
of Atlas, and the indentation cast into its back tell us that it was
originally intended as a support for a larger object. Like the carved
pair of altar angels in The Cloisters’ collection
(no. 57), the style of this cast figure derives
ultimately from the seminal sculpture of

shrine survives intact with support figures like

¥ this one, but there are examples from the later

Middle Ages. Furthermore, a number of the

scenes depicted in the Hours of Jeanne d’Evreux

(no. 62) are set in architectural frameworks
supported by similar bent figures.
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62 | The Hours of Jeanne

d’Evreux, Queen of France

Jean Pucelle (active ca. 1319—ca. 1334)

France, lle-de-France,

Paris, 132428

Grisaille, tempera, and ink on

vellum

3% x 2%in. (8.9 x 6.7 cm) each leaf
"The Cloisters Collection, 1954 (54-1.2)

2
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This tiny devotional prayer book was painted by Jean Pucelle, one of
the greatest artists of the fourteenth century, for Jeanne d’Evreux,
third wife of King Charles IV (r. 1322—28). The queen would have
used it at regular intervals throughout the day in imitation of the
prayer cycles observed by monks and nuns. Although the manu-
script lacks some of the ostentation we might associate with a royal
book, such as large scale and lavish use of color and gold, in terms
of the quality and subtlety of its decoration it ranks among the great
masterworks of medieval manuscript illumination. The predomi-
nance of gray enables the painter to render the figures in a remark-
ably sculptural way. Here, we see the manuscript opened to an
image of Christ carrying the Cross on his way to the Crucifixion
(fol. 61v, left). The architectural frame is supported by two seated
figures quite similar to the cast-bronze support figure of a cleric or

.
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friar, also in the collection (no. 61). On the facing page is a depiction
of the Annunciation to the Shepherds (fol. 62r). Characteristic of
this inventive artist’s work, the illustrations on this page extend
beyond the frame to surround the miniature scene with angels and
shepherds in the margins.



63 | Reliquary Shrine
Attributed to Jean de Touyl

(d- 1349/50)

France, Ile-de-France, Paris,
ca. 132040

From the convent of the Poor Clares
at Buda, Hungary

Silver gilt, translucent enamel,
and paint

10 x 16 x 3% in. (25.4 x 40.6 x
9.5 Cm) open

The Cloisters Collection, 1962
(62.96)

This reliquary is in the form of a polyptych, with folding wings that
can be closed over the central portion. In the center of the arcaded
canopy is the Enthroned Virgin about to nurse the Christ Child;
flanking her are angels displaying relics. The wings of the polyptych
are decorated in translucent enamel, a technique that evokes stained
glass—highly appropriate given the architectural form of the shrine.
Scenes from the life of the Virgin and the infancy of Christ appear
below music-making angels on the insides of the wings, while addi-
tional angels, four female saints, and figures of the apostles deco-
rate the exterior. Although the reliquary belonged to the convent of
the Poor Clares in Budapest, the style of the goldsmith work and
enamel is purely Parisian and can be associated with the goldsmith
Jean de Touyl. It is possible the shrine was purchased in Paris for or
by Queen Elizabeth of Hungary, who founded the convent in 1334.
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64 | Double Cup

Germany or Bohemia, possibly
Prague, 1330-60

Silver, silver gilt, and opaque enamel
H. 4% in. (10.6 cm);

Diam. 4% in. (12.4 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1983
(1983.1253, b)
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In the fourteenth century, the Epiphany, or Three Kings’ Day, was
frequently celebrated with special toasts, and decorative cups like
this one were often given as gifts in emulation of the biblical Magi.
This double cup comprises two vessels stacked rim to rim. Around
the exterior of the upper vessel, which served as a second cup as well
as a lid, is an inscription with the names of the Three Magi—Caspar
(Gaspar), Melchior, and Waltazar (Balthasar). The interior of the
lower cup bears an enamel image of a helmet surmounted by three
conical hats of the type Jews were forced to wear (below, left). Inside
the foot of the upper cup are three similar hats, conjoined at their
tips at the center of a heraldic escutcheon (below, right). The presence
of the hats suggests the cup’s owners were Jews or converts from
Judaism, which is possible since the Epiphany was also observed
outside of Christian contexts.




65 | Covered Beaker

Vessel: Italy, Veneto, Venice, 1325-50
Mounts: Austria, Vienna, 1340-60
Silver gilt, rock crystal, and
translucent enamels

H. 8% in. (21 cm);

Diam. 3% in. (8.6 cm)

The Cloisters Collection, 1989
(1989.293)

Hard-stone vessels such as this twelve-sided rock crystal example
are among the most treasured products of the Middle Ages. This
beaker was likely produced in Venice, known as an important
center for the cutting and polishing of rock crystal. The silver-gilt
mounts, however, compare closely with pieces produced in Vienna.
The silver is inscribed in verse around the base in a German dialect:
WER/HIE«V/+DR/INCE/ET-W/INDE/R<MV/EZZ/E-IEM/ER.S/ELIG/SIN (He
who drinks wine from me, ever shall happy be). That exhortation
leaves little doubt that this vessel was intended for secular use.
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66 | Enthroned Virgin

Italy, Tuscany, late 14th century
Terracotta

17%x 10 X 9¥2 in.

(44-8 x 25.4 x 24.1 cm)

The Cloisters Collection and Rogers
Fund, 1998 (1998.214)

67 | Relief with Saint Peter

Martyr and Three Donors
Giovanni di Balduccio (active 1318-49)
Italy, Lombardy, ca. 1340

From the church of

Sant’Eustorgio, Milan

Marble

31Y2x 33% x 5% in. (8o x 86 x 14.5 cm)
The Cloisters Collection, 2001
(2001.221)
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